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AUTHOR’S NOTE

In the interest of full disclosure, I should mention that my family benefited from some of the ill-gotten gains accumulated from the Teapot Dome affair. In 1935, my father, Frederick Laton McCartney, then going into his senior year at Yale, spent the summer in Europe.

By the time he got to Paris in late August, my father was flat broke. Desperate, he called the only person he knew in the city, Harry M. Blackmer, one of the chief participants in the oil swindle, and asked for a loan, explaining that he was Fred McCartney’s son. At the time, Blackmer was living in exile in Paris with a $10 million Teapot windfall and his mistress and later second wife, a Norwegian opera singer named Eide Norena. A former resident of Denver, Blackmer had often played golf with my grandfather, but as a wanted man, he was leery that my father might be an FBI agent or a journalist. “If you’re Fred McCartney’s son,” he asked, “how would your father play the thirteenth hole at the Denver Country Club?”

My grandfather was a champion amateur golfer and the designer of the golf course in question. He was also left-handed, which meant that his game, and in particular his strategy in playing the thirteenth hole, differed from that of right-handed players such as Blackmer. After my father, a golfer himself, explained how Fred Sr. typically played the thirteenth, Blackmer gave him his address and asked him to come right over to his apartment. There, my father enjoyed a lavish dinner and drank champagne with the old rogue and his Norwegian ingenue while Blackmer pumped him for news from home and later presented him with $150. That was a sizable sum in 1935, more than enough to sustain my father until his ship departed a few days later.
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A REVERSAL OF FORTUNE

ARDMORE, OKLAHOMA, NOVEMBER 21, 1920

The Oil King of Oklahoma” came back to the Randal Hotel and flopped down on the bed in room 28 without undressing. It was just after 6:00 p.m. Jake Hamon had been drinking most of the afternoon. He needed a nap if he was going to make supper.

Clara Hamon was in the adjoining room when Jake came in. She listened as he dropped his keys and change on the bureau and collapsed on the bed. She and Jake had been together ten years. They shared the Hamon name but were neither married nor related. A few months after they met, Jake had paid his nephew Frank Hamon $10,000 to marry Clara and then sent him off on the first train to California. The marriage had been a “blind.” Jake wanted Clara for himself. Sharing the Hamon name made it easier for them to travel together, registering in hotels as Jake and Clara Hamon.

Jake had left his wife and two children for Clara. A clerk in a dry goods store, Clara had been seventeen at the time, eighteen years Jake’s junior. With her wavy brown hair modestly done up, her deep blue eyes, and her reluctance to wear rouge, she looked more like an attractive young schoolteacher than Jake Hamon’s mistress. After they met, Jake offered her a job, sent her to stenography school, and took her out to the oil fields with him when he’d been wildcatting on the Osage and up on the Panhandle. Clara was smart and every bit as ambitious as Jake. For the past few years, she’d been acting as his business partner and adviser. “He was…a masterful man,” Clara said. “He dominated me from the first time I looked into his eyes and noted the strange glint in them.”

Now Jake had hit the big time, the jackpot of all jackpots. Not even in his wildest dreams could he have imagined the good fortune that had recently befallen him. Until six months ago, Jake had been a big fish in a pond that was far too small to accommodate his vast ambitions. “The Oil King of Oklahoma,” the newspapers called him. The raucous, hard-drinking Hamon had graduated from the Law Department of the University of Kansas, then set off for Indian Territory (present-day Oklahoma), where he clerked in a store in Newkirk. When the Kiowa-Comanche country opened up to settlement, Jake went in with the first rush of new settlers to Lawton, then an Indian town. Over the next few years, he had been named Lawton’s first city attorney and chairman of the Oklahoma Republican Territorial Committee; made money building a railroad with John Ringling, the circus impresario; and then got into oil, where the real money was.

With the 1920 presidential election coming up, Jake decided to gamble almost everything he had on backing a long shot in the 1920 Republican presidential convention, Senator Warren G. Harding from Ohio. Hamon borrowed nearly $1 million from the National City Bank of New York (today’s Citibank), using his substantial oil holdings as collateral. He took his bankroll to Chicago and spread his money around where it counted, buying delegates and influencing the people who needed influencing. Working in tandem with Harding’s campaign manager, Harry Micajah Daugherty, Hamon got Warren Harding the Republican presidential nomination.

Six months later, Warren Harding was elected president of the United States. Going into the convention, Harding had been a forty-to-one shot. Hamon agreed to back him on the condition that if he was nominated—and made it to the White House—Harding would appoint Hamon secretary of the interior. That would give Hamon control of the Teapot Dome Naval Reserve in Wyoming, an oil supply potentially worth several hundred million dollars—1920 dollars—a bonanza so rich that it was almost beyond comprehension. Of course, Jake wasn’t going to pocket it all. He agreed to lease out the government fields to some of his friends in the oil business, who in turn would kick back a third of the take to Jake.

Hamon had a fortune within his grasp that could put him in the same league as old John D. Rockefeller, the richest man in America. And Jake already knew what he was going to do with a big chunk of the money—make his son president of the United States. If Hamon and Big Oil could get an empty suit like Harding elected, putting a bright, ambitious kid like Jake Jr. in the White House would be a breeze when the time came. Of course, there was a caveat regarding the Interior post. Initially, Jake hadn’t thought the matter would prove a problem, but he’d been badly mistaken. When Hamon and Harding first met in New York before the convention, they discovered to their mutual amazement that their wives were related—second cousins, in fact. This, of course, had given Jake a big “in” with Harding, but it also presented a problem. Once “the Duchess,” as Harding called his wife, Florence, got the low-down on Jake and Clara, she insisted that Jake get back with his wife before coming to Washington. Florence Harding wasn’t going to allow her cousin’s husband to come to Washington accompanied by some twenty-seven-year-old floozy.

Clara had to go.

Harding spelled out the demands in a letter Jake had brought back from the Chicago convention, packed in his trunk. It stated unequivocally that Hamon had to resume his legal marital relations before he could be considered for an appointment. Not that Harding cared one way or another. He chased anything in a skirt; that was no secret. But Florence was a tough old bird. There was no getting around her.

Of course, Jake waited until after Harding won the election to break the bad news to Clara. No point in getting her all riled up until he was sure Harding had the job. Clara wasn’t the kind of woman you wanted to give up unless you had a good reason, and Jake had two of the best—money and power. Jake would be generous in settling with her, of course. He’d already given Clara a couple of oil wells from which she received small royalties. He’d instructed his business manager, Frank Ketch, to work out a reasonable agreement. Clara would walk away from their ten-year relationship a well-to-do woman with enough to put her younger brother, Jimmy, through college and take care of her ailing father, J. T. Smith, down in El Paso. Back a decade or so ago, J.T. had come after Jake with a pistol for having absconded with poor innocent Clara. Fortunately, the sheriff managed to disarm him before he could do any damage.

Old J.T. had a nasty temper, but then so did Clara, though she had seemed calm enough when Jake told her that he had to leave her, that he was going back to his wife. Icy calm, in fact. He broke the news on November 7 and gave Clara three weeks to clear out, explaining that his wife and family would be arriving at the end of the month in Ardmore.

God knows, Jake told Clara, he hadn’t wanted it to end this way, not after ten years, didn’t know what he’d do without her. Jake wanted nothing more than to bring Clara with him to Washington, take her to black-tie dinners at the White House and formal balls, have her meet heads of state, even royalty, but the president-elect of the United States had insisted. Either get back with his wife or forget about the Interior job. What choice did he have?

The day after Jake broke the news, Clara went out and bought a .25-caliber pistol. That, Jake hadn’t known. What he knew was that Clara had started packing and seemed resigned to the breakup. It was only a matter of a few days now before she’d be off. In fact, when he got back to the hotel on the evening of November 21, he half expected that she would have already gone. Instead, she came into Jake’s room from the adjoining room, her room, after he toppled onto the bed. He was awake, if a little woozy from the whiskey. It was nearly dark. Clara came over to the bed and put her left hand on Jake’s forehead as if to stroke it and with her right shot him in the chest with the .25-caliber pistol.

Pop—one shot that pierced his ribs and lodged in his liver.

Jake jumped up from the bed, knocked the gun from Clara’s hand before she could get off a second round, and then began crawling around the floor on his hands and knees, clutching the chest wound with one hand and looking for the tiny pistol with the other in the near darkness. Finally he retrieved the gun, put it in his pocket, and staggered to his feet to confront Clara.

“Clara, you hit me,” Jake said, looking at the blood that had begun to soak through his vest and now covered his hand.

Clara would later claim that she pleaded with Jake to lie back down on the bed. She wanted to call for Dr. Walter Hardy, the town doctor, but Jake was determined to walk to the nearby Hardy Sanitarium himself. “Let’s call it an accident,” he said as he staggered out the door. That suited Clara just fine. She wanted Jake Hamon dead, and she wanted it to appear as if he’d shot himself while cleaning his pistol. She told her driver so the following day.

Clara didn’t offer to accompany Jake the few blocks to the sanitarium. Instead, she waited until he was gone, opened his trunk, and took out the letter from the president-elect of the United States, Warren Harding, stipulating that Jake must reunite with his wife if he wanted the cabinet. The letter was Clara’s insurance policy. As long as she had possession of the letter, she’d never go to the electric chair for shooting Jake Hamon.

Five days later, Jake Hamon died. By that time, Clara was safely across the border into Old Mexico. “What a wonderful fellow he was,” Warren Harding said when he heard the news, tears streaming down his cheeks. “Too bad he had to be taken out. Too bad he had that one fault—that admiration for women.”

Florence Harding had a less sympathetic reaction when a reporter told her the news. “Was there a woman involved?” she asked.
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BREAKFAST OF CHAMPIONS

Prior to Warren Harding’s election, the Democrats under President Woodrow Wilson had been in power nearly eight years. Wilson had led the country through the Great War, but in 1920 he lay incapacitated in the White House after suffering a severe stroke the previous year. In the interim, the president’s wife, Edith, had been acting as her husband’s steward. The White House was in limbo. Even some of the Democrats, including thirty-six-year-old Eleanor Roosevelt, complained that the country was rudderless.

Meanwhile, America was beginning to cut loose after a prolonged interval of wartime self-sacrifice. The country was rushing pell-mell into “the Roaring Twenties,” a period of permissiveness, greed, and change. Bessie Smith, Duke Ellington, and Louis Armstrong ushered in the Jazz Age. F. Scott Fitzgerald published his first novel in 1920, This Side of Paradise. Eugene O’Neill’s first play, Beyond the Horizon, opened on Broadway, winning the Pulitzer Prize. The robber barons slipped their political constraints. There was money to be made, piles of it.

If there had been a cultural seismograph at the time, Chicago would have registered as the era’s epicenter. It was here that “the ‘Black Sox’ scandal” had come to light after the 1919 World Series; here that the trial of “Shoeless Joe” Jackson and the other Chicago players who’d thrown the series to Cincinnati would commence in September 1920. The 1919 Volstead Act, which led to Prohibition, was received enthusiastically by Chicago’s lawless elements. Chicago soon boasted ten thousand speakeasies and served as the headquarters of a bootlegging and rum-running cartel whose reach extended all the way to southern Florida. Al Capone had moved from Brooklyn to Chicago’s South Side in 1919. It was his kind of town.

In June 1920, the Republicans were coming to Chicago for their national convention. Sensing the White House was theirs for the taking, a record eighteen candidates were seeking the nomination, among them General Leonard Wood, Governor Frank Lowden of Illinois, Herbert Hoover, and an obscure senator from Ohio, Warren G. Harding.

Harding’s campaign manager was a fleshy, balding, partially blind Scottish Irishman with one blue eye and one brown named Harry Micajah Daugherty. In April 1920, nearly eight months before Jake Hamon was murdered and two months before the Republican convention was scheduled to convene, Daugherty and Jake Hamon had breakfast together in Washington, D.C. With the million dollars he had borrowed from the National City Bank of New York, Hamon was shopping for a candidate he could put in the White House. Daugherty intended to pitch the Oil King on Harding.

Hamon had been introduced to Harding not long before in New York, learning then that his estranged wife, Ruth Hamon, was Florence Harding’s second cousin. He’d never met Daugherty before their breakfast. The sixty-one-year-old Daugherty ranked as one of the shrewder, more seasoned and successful political operatives in a state where back-office politics was a game played with brass knuckles and hard cash. Always fastidiously dressed in a well-tailored three-piece, a pearl stickpin in his necktie, he had been born in the small town of Washington Court House, Ohio, just as the Civil War began. His father died when he was a boy, leaving his family penniless. Working in a grocery store, Daugherty put himself through high school, going on to the University of Michigan Law School, where he earned a law degree in 1881. On graduating, he went into politics, served briefly in the state legislature, but soon found his true métier working behind the scenes as a fixer and political deal maker. Mark Hanna, the legendary political kingmaker and Daugherty’s onetime boss, was among his mentors. Daugherty was tough, smart, and determined—a mover and shaker. In Ohio, if you needed an arm twisted, a corner cut, a wire pulled, or a pocket lined, Daugherty was your man.

No question he was qualified to run Harding’s campaign, having helped McKinley gain the Republican nomination twice. He’d also been instrumental in putting Teddy Roosevelt in the White House and managed Taft’s last campaign in Ohio. “For more than a quarter of a century I had played a responsible role in every Republican National Convention and knew the job to which I had set my hand,” he said. In those earlier campaigns, however, the Ohioan had been a hired gun. Daugherty had a far more vested interest in Harding, whom he had known twenty years. Harry Daugherty viewed Harding as his creation. “When I met him, he was like a turtle sitting on a log,” Daugherty said of Harding. “I pushed him in the water.”

Now he intended to push Harding all the way to the White House.

A mutual friend of Hamon and Daugherty’s, circus impresario John Ringling, had brokered the breakfast meeting. Ringling and Hamon had built a railroad together in Oklahoma in 1913. It wasn’t much of a railroad, running from Ardmore to nearby Healdton, but both men made money on the deal and had stayed in touch. Hamon went on to make his real fortune in the oil fields.

From Ringling, an Ohioan like Daugherty, Daugherty had learned that Hamon was looking to back a presidential candidate and had the deep pockets needed to put his man in the winner’s circle. Daugherty immediately began badgering Ringling to set up a meeting in Washington. “I finally told him if he didn’t bring Hamon to see me, I’d slip into his circus enclosure some dark night and kill every elephant he had,” Daugherty later wrote.

At breakfast in the Oklahoman’s Washington hotel, Hamon ordered the hungry man breakfast, three eggs, ham—the works. Normally a tea-and-dry-toast man, Daugherty ordered the same, earning Hamon’s immediate approval. “You live among the tenderfeet, but you know how to order a real breakfast,” Hamon said.

The forty-seven-year-old Hamon was a prototype of the high-rolling, risk-taking, winner-take-all corporate buccaneers who would be much admired in the 1920s. He was powerfully built, with features that had been weathered by years in the oil fields and a lifetime of hard drinking and high living. Daugherty described him as “a real he-man.”

For Hamon, politics was largely a means to an end, the end inevitably having to do with oil and money. The Oklahoman was always looking to develop new oil fields. “All I want to do is make money, and I don’t care much how I make it,” he once said. In building a fortune, he had made a practice of buying politicians. It was a rare legislator in Oklahoma and Hamon’s native state, Kansas, who hadn’t benefited from the oilman’s under-the-table largesse. Of course, there were always a few fuddy-duddies who wouldn’t play the game. In 1910, Hamon had offered the blind U.S. senator from Oklahoma, Democrat Thomas P. Gore, $50,000 to assist him in swindling the Choctaw and Chickasaw out of their reservation land. Gore not only turned Hamon down, but went to the press with the allegations of the bribe attempt. Hamon, of course, denied the incident, his word against Gore’s.

More recently, Hamon had done his best to convince President Wilson’s interior secretary, Franklin K. Lane, to grant him permission to drill on as yet unallotted sections of the oil-rich Osage Reservation. When Lane refused, Hamon vowed to replace him with an interior secretary who was simpatico to Big Oil, a Republican. And Jake had just the man in mind—himself.

Coming into the Republican convention, Jake had spent $120,000 to get Oklahoma’s eighteen delegates in his pocket and bragged openly about controlling another thirty delegates from other states. He was also spending an equivalent sum to get elected national committeeman from Oklahoma. His rival James J. McGraw, the current committeeman, supported General Leonard Wood for the presidency. Early on, Hamon had committed to Frank Lowden, governor of Illinois. Hamon had financed Lowden’s defeat of Wood in the Oklahoma primary and was now after McGraw’s scalp as well.

As Harding’s campaign manager, Harry Daugherty seemingly was backing a loser. Political pundits at the time first coined the term dark horse to characterize the less promising of the Republican presidential hopefuls. Harding was as dark a horse as there was in the race. In the respected Literary Digest poll that came out prior to the convention, Harding ranked a distant sixth behind the three leaders—Wood, Lowden, and Senator Hiram Johnson from California—as well as Herbert Hoover and Charles Evans Hughes, who had unsuccessfully opposed Woodrow Wilson in the 1916 election. The Wall Street Journal listed Harding as an eight-to-one shot to win the nomination. Sportswriter Ring Lardner, who was covering the convention for several New York papers, put Harding’s odds at two hundred to one, only slightly worse than the tongue-in-cheek odds Lardner gave himself.

With two months to go before the convention, the Harding campaign was in dire need of cash. Harding had attracted little early enthusiasm among the delegates who would soon be heading for Chicago. This was understandable, given that Harding’s six-year record in the U.S. Senate was largely undistinguished; he wasn’t much known outside Ohio and in fact didn’t really want the presidency, much preferring the lower-key, less scrutinized life in the U.S. Senate. As a senator he could lead a reasonably normal life, pursue his various extracurricular interests, notably women, poker, and golf. He lacked ambition, discipline, and self-esteem in equal measure. Outside of Daugherty, Harding’s ambitious wife, Florence (the Duchess), and some of his political cronies in Ohio, no one seemingly took the Harding campaign seriously.

Daugherty thus far had accumulated a campaign fund of a little over $100,000, most of it made up of relatively modest donations. Daugherty himself was one of the biggest backers, with a contribution of $9,000. Most of the other contenders had amassed significantly larger war chests. Wood’s forces, in fact, would end up spending $1.7 million on the record and likely far more off the books. Lowden’s funding came to $414,984, most of it his wife’s money. The governor was married to the Pullman car heiress.

Going into the convention, the delegate tally was equally bleak. Of the 984 voting delegates, 125 had pledged to Wood, 112 to Johnson, and 72 to Lowden. Harding had mustered only 39. Not even the Ohio delegation was lined up entirely behind him, being split between Harding and Wood.

For Daugherty, gaining Hamon’s support was critical, but he had no intention of asking the Oklahoman to abandon Lowden. At least not right away. “I did not care at the time who his first choice was,” Daugherty said. “Our whole plan of campaigning was centered on second-choice votes.”

During their initial meeting, Daugherty proposed that the Harding forces and the Hamon-supported Lowden camp team up to take Wood out of contention. “The farmer’s friend,” Lowden, was just the man to beat the seemingly stern, intensely nationalistic Wood, Daugherty asserted. And if Lowden later faltered, Daugherty wanted Hamon’s assurance that he would commit entirely to Harding.

It was an offer that could only better Hamon’s chances of gaining the coveted secretary of the interior post, a classic “win-win” situation. “Hamon spent the day with me, and when he left, I’d won him,” Daugherty later recalled. “He promised that if the time came that Harding had a chance for the nomination and Lowden could not win, he would support Harding.”
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CONVENTION

CHICAGO, JUNE 1920

After his initial meeting with Harry Daugherty in Washington, Jake Hamon had visited the Harding campaign headquarters in Indianapolis. He’d also met with Jess Smith and Howard Mannington at the Deshler Hotel in Columbus, Ohio. There, both Smith, the brilliantined, small-town dandy who served as Daugherty’s man Friday, and Mannington, one of the campaign’s main fund-raisers, collected a check from Hamon for $25,000 to cover the entire cost of Harding’s Chicago campaign headquarters at the Congress Hotel. The Oil King later would brag that he had “signed the check” that resulted in the nomination of Warren Harding, but it would end up costing him far more than $25,000 to get Harding nominated.

The Republican National Convention was scheduled to run from June 8 to June 12 at the immense Chicago Coliseum. Hamon arrived in town early, on Thursday, June 3, establishing his headquarters on the twelfth floor of the William Holabird–designed La Salle Hotel. When Daugherty got in later the same day, he contacted Hamon, who asked him to come immediately to the La Salle. The Oklahoman had delivered on his part of the bargain that had been struck in Washington. Now it was Daugherty’s turn.

“He insisted on my seeing Governor Lowden,” Daugherty recalled.

“I wanted to get to our headquarters, but…I agreed to see Lowden first.”

As soon as Daugherty arrived from the train station, Hamon called Lowden, who he discovered was sick. The governor couldn’t see anyone, not even Hamon, doctor’s orders. Before Daugherty could get away, Hamon made another call, this one to Louis Emmerson, Lowden’s campaign manager. Summoned by Hamon, Emmerson appeared soon after. “We’ll do our best, Mr. Emmerson, to put Harding over,” Daugherty told Emmerson after they’d been introduced. “We know Governor Lowden has a large following. But we believe our man can win.”

“But you’ll give Lowden a chance to land the nomination first?” Emmerson asked.

“That’s exactly what I was going to tell you. General Wood must be beaten first. And Lowden’s the man to beat him…. We’ll loan you every vote we can until you pass Wood. The minute you do this, Wood is out of the race and all friendship on the floor of the convention ceases between us—you understand that?”

“Certainly,” Emmerson said. “You couldn’t make a fairer proposition.”

Hamon gave Lowden news of the agreement he’d brokered the following evening in the governor’s suite in the Blackstone Hotel. “Frank, you haven’t got a Chinaman’s chance for the nomination, but I am going to stick with you for a while to give you a chance,” Hamon explained with his usual bluntness. “Then we go for Warren Harding.”

         

WARREN HARDING HAD hoped to arrive in Chicago on Saturday in order to see his twenty-three-year-old mistress, Nan Britton, before the convention got under way. Nan and her baby daughter, Elizabeth Ann, whom Harding had fathered, had recently moved to Chicago to live with Nan’s sister. Harding had planned to spend Saturday evening with Nan, who had her sister’s apartment on Woodlawn Avenue all to herself for the weekend, but the Duchess put the kibosh on the long-planned rendezvous, sensing that her philandering husband was up to no good. Much to Harding’s chagrin, she insisted on traveling with him rather than take a later train from Washington that would get her into Chicago on Sunday.

They arrived together aboard the Republican Special at Union Station. In a Chicago Daily News photo, the usually robust Harding seems frazzled from the sweltering heat that would linger for the duration of the convention. He was fifty-five, stood slightly over six feet, and had classically handsome features that wouldn’t be out of place on Mount Rushmore or, in profile, on a Roman coin. One political wag characterized him as the only man in America who could get away with wearing a toga. “Like everyone else I instantly perceived that this man, who talked like somebody invented by Sinclair Lewis, looked more like a president than any president who ever lived with the possible exception of George Washington,” noted Bruce Bliven, who interviewed Harding for the New York Globe in Chicago prior to the convention. From his exasperated expression in the News photograph, Harding gives the impression that he would rather be almost anywhere than at the convention—on a golf course, say, or between the sheets with nubile young Nan. He was a reluctant candidate, had threatened to quit the race on a number of occasions. Daugherty kept pumping him up, telling Harding he could win, all evidence to the contrary. Harding had shown poorly in the Indiana primary. More recently in his home state, Ohio, he’d won but had come away with a split delegation—thirty-nine delegates for Harding, nine for General Wood.

“Well, it looks like we’re done for,” he told Daugherty when the Ohio results were in.

Not at all, Daugherty reassured him. It was often a badge of honor to go into the convention with a split delegation. He reminded Harding that Grover Cleveland had failed to gain the full backing of the New York delegation because of Tammany Hall opposition and had still come away with the 1884 nomination, going on to win the presidency. In fact, Daugherty was so confident Harding would be the next Republican presidential candidate that he boasted to reporters: “At the proper time after the Republican National Convention meets, some fifteen men, bleary-eyed with a loss of sleep and perspiring profusely with the excessive heat, will sit down in seclusion around a big table. I will be with them and will present the name of Senator Harding to them, and before we get through they will put him over.”

In view of what ensued in Chicago, Harry Daugherty was either extraordinarily prescient or was privy to some inside information about how the next Republican presidential candidate was going to be selected.

He and Will Hays, the jug-eared, whippet-thin Republican National Committee (RNC) chairman, were among those who were at Union Station to meet the train and escort the Hardings back to campaign headquarters at the Congress Hotel. En route, Daugherty briefed the Hardings on the campaign strategy. This was a moment Daugherty had been preparing for since he’d first met Harding twenty years earlier after a political rally in rural Ohio. In the rear of a backwater hotel, they’d shared a wad of chewing tobacco and chatted for a few minutes. “Gee,” Daugherty thought to himself as the then publisher of the Marion (Ohio) Star walked away, “what a great-looking president he’d make.”

In Chicago, Daugherty seemingly had thought of everything. He had handpicked a staff of more than five hundred men from Harding’s former headquarters in Columbus, and from Washington, D.C., New York, and Indianapolis. “They had proven their loyalty and ability in the primary struggle,” he later said. “There wasn’t a traitor among them.” Another fifteen hundred volunteers had been recruited to help out as well. Harding’s people would meet every train, greeting the delegates as they arrived, and make appointments to see them. Round-the-clock lookouts had already been posted in every hotel in Chicago. The campaign staff knew the names of all 984 delegates, their hotels, and the room numbers at which they were registered. Daugherty had also placed Harding people in each of the opposing candidates’ headquarters. He had arranged for the seventy-five-man Columbus Glee Club to be brought up to Chicago. Hourly, the glee club, which still listed Harding as an honorary member, serenaded the delegates with such toe tappers as “A Great Big Man from a Great Big State” and “We’ll Nominate Harding in the Morning.”

The Hardings were staying in the La Salle, Hamon’s hotel, but the Harding campaign headquarters was at the Congress in the ornate Florentine Room. There the Hardings wooed delegates and made themselves available to journalists. Normally, the wives of candidates remained in the background at political gatherings of this sort, but it was largely Florence Harding who held court in the Florentine Room.

In some early accounts of the Harding era, the Duchess was characterized unfairly as a social-climbing shrew who was capable of almost anything, even poisoning her husband. Although she was not quite five years Warren’s senior, Florence could have passed as his mother. There was an autumnal, postmenopausal aura about her, but when she spoke, her features became animated with a lively intelligence. In interviews she was unpretentious, candid, and well-informed. The press found her refreshing, accessible, and always quotable.

Daugherty admired her enormously. He viewed Florence as his most important ally in getting Harding elected president, though she was considerably less enthusiastic about the prospect than Daugherty, having had a premonition that Warren was going to be assassinated in office. In this, the first year women won the right to vote, Daugherty was shrewd enough to put Florence front and center in Chicago. “I…gave Mrs. Harding a free hand in talking to anybody she pleased,” he said. “I could trust absolutely her keen intuitions and her straightforward, honest thinking…. She made friends with every reporter who talked to her. She disarmed criticism by her frank declaration that she only wished Harding’s success because he wanted it. Personally she had always opposed his running.”

In contrast, Daugherty told Harding to make no predictions or statements, smile amiably, and look presidential. Florence would do the talking for both of them. This suited Harding fine. At the first opportunity, he slipped away to see Nan at her sister’s apartment.

         

WITH HIS $1 MILLION piggybank, Jake Hamon wasn’t the only oilman in Chicago shopping for a president. Harry Ford Sinclair, president of the Sinclair Consolidated Oil Corporation, and William Boyce Thompson, one of Sinclair’s directors and largest stockholders, were in the market as well. Several months before the convention, Sinclair—“Sinco” to his friends—and Thompson had, like Hamon, come up with funding for the convention and the ensuing election. Using Sinclair stock as collateral, Sinclair and Thompson, a New York banker who was treasurer of the Republican Party and a delegate to the convention, borrowed $3 million that Sinclair intended to use incrementally to underwrite the Republican campaign. This, investigators would later claim, was a dummy loan, a way of enabling Sinclair and his associates to pass along money to the RNC without it showing up as an individual contribution.

Conveniently, the chairman of the Republican National Committee, Will Hays, was also a director of one of Sinclair’s companies, a Sinclair stockholder, and an attorney who counted Sinclair among his most important clients. Prior to the convention, the Indiana-born Hays, a Presbyterian elder, had decreed that he would accept no campaign contributions larger than $1,000. This put Sinclair potentially $2,999,000 over the limit, but Hays apparently was willing to cut his boss a little slack. Besides, even in pre–electronic media 1920, running a national presidential campaign was an expensive proposition. Sinclair’s largesse would go a long way toward covering those costs.

In return, Sinclair wanted the Republicans to handpick a presidential candidate who would put a compliant interior secretary in office—namely, Jake Hamon. Sinclair knew Hamon from the Oklahoma oil fields. Prior to the convention, Sinclair and Hamon had agreed that once Hamon took over Interior, he would lease the Wyoming Teapot reserves to Sinclair in return for one-third of the earnings. Going into Chicago, though, the two oil titans differed as to which candidate they intended to back. Initially a Wood supporter, Hamon had a falling-out with some of Wood’s top people and switched his allegiance to Lowden. Thanks to Daugherty’s persuasiveness, however, he was leaning heavily toward Harding when the convention finally got under way.

In contrast, Sinclair was an early and unwavering supporter of Wood’s. The general, a friend and protégé of Teddy Roosevelt’s and America’s proconsul in Cuba and later the Philippines, had attracted the backing of much of Wall Street and many of the nation’s big moneymen. George F. Baker, Vincent Astor, T. Coleman du Pont, Horace Havemeyer, John D. Rockefeller Jr., Marshall Field, Andrew Mellon, and William Boyce Thompson (who had made his fortune in the copper business) had all contributed to Wood’s coffers. By the convention, though, Wood’s star had lost some of its luster. The Republican old guard, led by Henry Cabot Lodge, had come to view the general as a little too independent for the party’s good. Also, it was becoming clear that Wood’s persistent warnings about the need for military preparedness weren’t resonating among war-weary voters.

Coming into the convention, Sinclair developed reservations about Wood as well. While Hamon had gotten a verbal agreement from the Harding camp about securing the Interior post, Wood had agreed to nothing. In fact, the general boasted he was his own man, a candidate unencumbered by ties to special interest groups and what he called “shady business.” Such posturing was to be expected from a presidential candidate, of course, but some of the higher-ups in the GOP ranks were beginning to think Wood actually meant what he was saying. One alarming indication: Wood had recently distanced himself publicly from the support of the party’s top political boss, Pennsylvania’s Boies Penrose, going so far as to fire John T. King, an associate of Penrose’s who had been the general’s campaign manager.

Wood’s holier-than-thou attitude was a big reason Hamon had originally switched to Lowden and was now leaning toward Harding. Harding was the consummate “go along to get along man.” He’d shown that repeatedly in his six years in the U.S. Senate. Still, Sinclair—initially, at least—had largely written Harding off. Simply to hedge his bets, Sinclair had loaned, not given, Harding’s campaign $7,500. Now, at Hamon’s urging, however, Sinclair was willing to take a second look.

At the start of the convention, he and Thompson arranged to meet the Hardings at the Sinclairs’ suite in the Blackstone Hotel. There, Sinclair had taken out an entire floor of the hotel at the cost of $400,000 to entertain delegates, politicians, and journalists round the clock for the duration of the convention. The meeting gave Sinclair a chance to check out Harding in person, get a first-person “read” on the man whom Jake Hamon was now touting as a nominee.

Though brief, the meeting apparently went well. Like Sinclair, Harding was a “man’s man”: an inveterate poker player who liked his whiskey, Prohibition notwithstanding; a small-town boy who had pulled himself up by the bootstraps, becoming publisher and owner of his hometown paper, the Marion Star. Harding was a man with whom you could do business, not some straight-backed general exuding Victorian rectitude. Still, Wood remained the clear favorite. The delegates, it was rumored, were merely waiting for the second ballot before throwing their votes to the general. Sinclair had no cause to pull his support as long as Wood agreed to put the right man in the secretary of the interior job.

         

THE CONVENTION FINALLY got under way Tuesday morning. Some 984 delegates plus 30,000 guests crowded into the Chicago Coliseum. This was the first convention in history to include women delegates—27 of them—and also the first time reporters were allowed into the convention hall. By 11:00 a.m., the scheduled time of the opening, it was already ninety degrees. This, of course, was well before air-conditioning. The women in the balconies were already fanning themselves with their programs. The band played “Columbia, the Gem of the Ocean” and then “Dixie.” From the floor came wiseacre requests for “How Dry I Am.” On Monday, the U.S. Supreme Court had ruled in favor of both the contested Eighteenth Amendment (for Prohibition) and the Volstead Act.

At 11:34, RNC chairman Hays strode down the flying bridge to the speaker’s podium, rapped for order with an oversize chairman’s gavel that was hewn from a rafter in Philadelphia’s Freedom Hall, and announced that the Republican National Convention of 1920 had officially commenced. The delegates roared their approval. For the Republicans, the new decade had begun.

The permanent convention chairman, Henry Cabot Lodge—“the Puritan aristocrat,” Daugherty called him—gave the opening speech, lambasting Woodrow Wilson and the president’s efforts to gain United States entry into the League of Nations, the precursor to the United Nations. For an hour and a half, Lodge went on. Listless attendees glanced at their watches and mopped their foreheads with linen handkerchiefs.

The nominating speeches followed. Wood, the war hero; Lowden, who’d slashed taxes as the governor of Illinois; the hard-charging, humorless reformer Johnson. Hamon had arranged for the Oklahoma delegates to nominate the state’s favorite son—none other than Jake Hamon. Nathan L. Miller of New York nominated Herbert Hoover. Governor Calvin Coolidge of Massachusetts joined the list of candidates. It was said that “Silent Cal” had once opened his mouth and a moth flew out. He had gained national prominence after breaking a police strike in Boston. Put the micks in their place. The oddsmakers quoted him as an eight-to-one shot, the same odds that were currently being offered for Harding.

Daugherty purposely held off the nominating speech for Harding until late in the day, by which time the delegates and their guests were wondering if they were going to be able to get a cold beer when they got back to their hotels, given the untimely advent of Prohibition and an equally untimely waiters’ strike. With a rousing endorsement of Harding, Frank B. Willis, governor of Ohio, managed to stir up a little excitement. “The members began to sit up and take notice,” Daugherty said.

“Boys and girls, come on now and give us your votes—to nominate Senator Harding,” Willis thundered. That set off ten minutes of cheers and foot stomping, especially among the first-time women voters. Some of the attendees turned to smile at Florence Harding, who was seated in a guest box belonging to Fred W. Upham, a Harding supporter and the RNC treasurer. High above her in the visitors’ gallery, Nan Britton jumped up and down with the unrestrained enthusiasm of a cheerleader whose boyfriend had just scored a winning touchdown. Harding had given her a visitor’s pass for the entire convention.

The balloting began Friday with no surprises. In the first go-around, Wood received 287 votes, well short of the 484 votes needed to gain the nomination; Lowden, 211; Johnson, 133. Harding placed seventh with 65 votes. By the end of the day, and three more ballots, Harding’s total had dropped to 61, but with Daugherty’s help, Lowden had moved up to 289, only 25 fewer than Wood’s 314. Daugherty’s strategy seemed to be working. “The Lord had been good to us,” he said. “Our plans were working with the sure, soft power of a big Packard motor.”

         

NOT QUITE. Unbeknownst to Daugherty, Hamon visited Wood’s headquarters at the Elizabethan Room on the ground floor of the Congress Hotel after Friday’s balloting. By now, Hamon had control of at least fifty delegates from the Southwest, most of them bought and paid for, and had been negotiating with John T. King in an attempt to secure the Pennsylvania delegation with its seventy-six delegates. King was a big, smooth-talking Irishman from Bridgeport, Connecticut. He’d made substantial money in the garbage business before becoming one of the sub-bosses of the GOP. Though he’d split from the Wood campaign, he remained in Chicago to look after the interests of Boies Penrose, the booze-bloated Harvard grad who was the Republicans’ top deal maker. Severely ill, Penrose hadn’t come to Chicago but communicated with King almost hourly over both a private phone line and a telegraph line that he’d had installed between his sickbed and a suite in the Blackstone Hotel. The suite, it should be noted, was jointly occupied by RNC chairman Hays and Colonel George Harvey, a renegade Democrat with an almost pathological hatred of the severely ill president Wilson.

In the Elizabethan Room, Hamon told Wood and an old army colleague of the general’s, Chauncey Baker, that he could deliver the southwestern votes as well as the Pennsylvania delegation. Hamon had also acquired the votes of the New York delegation at what he’d later complain was an exorbitant cost. Taken together, these delegates along with those already backing Wood would be enough to put the general over the 484 total needed to win. Hamon could make this happen if Wood allowed him to name the interior secretary and the ambassador to Mexico, where American oilmen had substantial interests.

Despite his rather fearsome visage, Wood, a graduate of Harvard Medical School who originally entered the army as a surgeon, was known as a comparatively temperate, fair-minded leader much beloved by his troops. At Hamon’s proposal, however, he erupted. “I am an American soldier,” he shouted at Jake. “I’ll be damned if I betray my country. Get the hell out of here.” Hamon fled before Wood went after him with the riding crop he almost always carried tucked under his arm. At least now Hamon and Sinclair knew where they stood with Wood. Harding alone, it seemed, held the key to Teapot.

The next twenty-four hours were frantic. Daugherty and his campaign workers went all out in their efforts to promote Harding. “Friday night was a memorable one,” he recalled. “It was a night of wild excitement. Everybody who could be induced to do so was talking in favor of Harding.” Meanwhile, Hamon, acting on behalf of Daugherty, approached King, who continued to act as the gatekeeper for Penrose. The Republicans had boasted that this was to be an “unbossed” convention, but the ailing sixty-one-year-old Penrose was still pulling strings, albeit from eight hundred miles away.

From King, Hamon learned that Penrose also had tried to make a side deal with Wood, ensuring him the nomination in exchange for being able to name three cabinet members. Penrose had called Wood’s headquarters within minutes of Hamon’s abrupt departure. Wood refused to speak to Penrose, instructing his personal secretary, John Latimore Himrod, to take a message. “You may say to General Wood if he were nominated tomorrow, would he give us three cabinet members?” Penrose said.

His hand over the receiver, Himrod relayed the message. Hearing Penrose’s offer, General E. F. Glenn, one of Wood’s campaign advisers, said to Wood: “Now, General, one word will make you president of the United States.”

Wood shook his head. “Tell Senator Penrose that I made no promises and am making none,” he responded.

Harding, or at least Daugherty, had no such scruples. In the next few hours, Hamon and Daugherty conferred and came to an understanding with King and Penrose. Daugherty promised King a lucrative position in the Harding administration. Penrose could have his cabinet posts as long as Hamon had “dibs” on the Interior slot. In addition, Hamon threw in a sweetener, $250,000, most of which was later found in Penrose’s safe-deposit box. This was the check that won Harding the nomination. In return, King was to deliver Connecticut, his home state, to Harding. Penrose had been holding the Pennsylvania votes in reserve for Governor William Sproul. Once Wood went down, Penrose would release those delegates to Harding. By midnight, the Harding camp and the party bosses had a deal in place that would ensure Harding the nomination.

         

ON FRIDAY NIGHT, the party’s old guard—Lodge, the eldest of the elders, and Senators Frank Brandegee of Connecticut, Charles Curtis of Kansas, and Reed Smoot of Utah, among others—had dinner and then retired to suite 404–406, the Hays-Harvey suite, for Cuban Perfecto cigars and brandy. Hays and the acerbic Colonel Harvey, an influential newspaper editor and the Republicans’ resident Machiavelli, hosted this boozy, smoke-beclouded soiree, welcoming dozens of other senators and party leaders who dropped by. With the delegates increasingly out of sorts because of the unrelenting heat, the high cost of living in Chicago, and no resolution in sight, senior party members informally had come together to discuss the seemingly deadlocked convention. Or so the story goes.

This was the fabled “smoke-filled” room that Daugherty had uncannily prophesied several months earlier. According to traditional accounts, it was here that a junta of top Republicans—“bleary-eyed with a loss of sleep and perspiring profusely with the excessive heat”—sagely assessed the pros and cons of the various candidates, finally settling on Warren Harding as the man best suited to break the deadlock. And, yes, as he had predicted, Harry Daugherty was summoned before the aforementioned wise men to make the case for Brother Harding, though in his ghostwritten autobiography, Daugherty fails to mention he ever set foot in suite 404–406. “We were told afterwards that Colonel Harvey met his friends in a smoke-fogged room at the Blackstone Hotel, decided on a candidate and adjourned at two a.m.,” he said. “We paid no attention to these meetings, but sought out and gripped the hands of the delegates who were to vote.”

Between 1:00 and 2:00 a.m. Saturday morning, it was ordained that Warren Harding would be given the nomination, supposedly by Lodge and the other Republican leaders. In truth, it was Boies Penrose who ordered the nomination of Harding from his deathbed in Philadelphia, the last power play of a dying man. A telegraph operator named John B. Alcorn was in the suite that night, working for the John King–led Penrose task force. He heard Harding’s name being tapped out over Penrose’s wire.

By the time Daugherty was summoned to the suite, Harding’s selection was already a fait accompli. It had far less to do with Daugherty’s masterful political strategizing than it did with Jake Hamon’s checkbook. Lodge, Colonel Harvey, and the others in the suite had simply summoned Daugherty to let him know the decision had been made. Find Harding and get him up here, Daugherty was told.

         

HARDING WAS DISCOVERED wandering the halls of the Congress Hotel, unshaven and hungover. He was marched up to the suite, where Colonel Harvey had decided to do a little last-minute due diligence on behalf of the party. Harvey asked Harding if he knew of any reason he could not be president of the United States. Harding was a little stunned by the question. He stepped out into the corridor for a few minutes of soul-searching. He had his young mistress, Nan Britton, and their illegitimate daughter stashed nearby. In fact, Harding had spent almost as much time these past few days with Nan as he had buttonholing delegates. Another of his former mistresses, Carrie Phillips, the wife of a department store owner in Marion, was threatening to blackmail him. But the colonel, Harding suspected, wasn’t interested primarily in his love life. For years, rumors had circulated that Harding had African American blood, and they’d resurfaced at the convention. His own father-in-law had spread rumors that Harding was, in his words, “a nigger” to dissuade Florence from marrying him. Harvey wanted to know if there was any truth to those rumors. Harvey had phrased the question diplomatically. Still, it came out the same: “Was he a nigger?”

It didn’t take Harding long to come up with his answer. He might have been a serial philanderer, but he was as much a Caucasian as any man in the room. More so, in fact. Curtis, one of Harding’s poker-playing buddies from the Senate, had Cherokee blood. “Gentlemen, there is no reason in the sight of God why I cannot be president of the United States,” Harding announced when he returned to the suite.

Later the same day, with Florence Harding and Daugherty watching from the spectators’ gallery and Nan Britton looking on from the balcony, Warren Harding won the presidential nomination with 674.7 ballots. Jake Hamon was the first to congratulate him. The oilman Hamon had delivered Oklahoma, Texas, Arizona, New York, Kentucky, and, through King and Penrose, Pennsylvania and Connecticut. Daugherty later acknowledged, “Jake Hamon…had more influence among the delegates than any other man in the convention.”

A million dollars’ worth.
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